Jews in Harbin in the earlier period of the 20th century

Huang Cheng
As an open city, Harbin was a focal point for foreigners. Early in the 20th century it was a haven for Jews fleeing persecution. This period is the subject of our research. 
At the height of this migration over twenty thousand Jews, were engaged in business, finance, publication, services medicine and art. They formed a separate socio-economic group in Harbin. 
To preserve the historic value of this period it is important to research and record the history of this community from their first arrival to Harbin until their final departure.
The formation and development of the Harbin Jewish Community.

1. The Harbin Jewish Community at the end of 19th century

The initial formation of Harbin Jewish Community was influenced by the anti-Semitic programs of the Russian Tsars and to the construction of Chinese Eastern Railway. 
Russian Jews were discriminated against in Russia. 
Their freedom of movement, right of abode and economic development was strictly curtailed. 
In 1881, one of the Russian Jews was accused in a plot to murder Tsar Alexander. As a result the Jews were persecuted.
Jews started to leave Russia in large groups. Most of them left for Europe and Latin America while some of them moved to northeastern and settled in Harbin. 

Probably, Jewish soldiers serving in the Russian army were first to enter northeast China while Jewish merchants from Russia were considered as the first immigrants who dealt with the frontier trade and settled in the northeast region. 
In 1896, Sino-Russian Secret Agreement was signed between China and Russia, wherein China allowed Russia to build a railway from Siberia to Vladivostok via the Heilongjiang Province and Ji-lin Provinces of China. 
In 1898 the Chinese Eastern Railway Company was established up and started the construction of the railway in accordance with an agreement signed between China and Russia.
The Russian Government urged its people to move to northeastern China so as to establish control the region by building the Chinese Eastern Railway and for this purpose formulated a series of “preferential” policies. 
One of the regulations provided for religious freedom, and Jews willing to migrate to Manchuria would be entitled to religious freedom, absolute business right and non-quota schools. 
That was to say Russian Jews would be fully protected with respect to religion, business and schooling in northeast China.  To take advantage of this, many Russian Jews moved. For this reason the Jewish community came into being in Harbin.
2. Harbin Jewish Community before and after the Russian October Revolution

In the latter part of the 19th Century, Jews started to migrate to Harbin from Siberia. They were mostly engaged in mining, cattle raising, dairy production and the supply of construction material and food products to the Chinese Eastern Railway. 
It is recorded that the first Jewish immigrant to Harbin was Grigori·Borisovich·Derikin from Russia, who had business along the Songhua River from 1894. He traded in food supplies and livestock in Harbin and other neighboring cities.  He also established a flour mill and the Jewish State Bank of Harbin. 
As the Chinese Eastern Railway reached full operation, more and more Jews came to settle in Harbin. By 1902 there were 100 Jews in Harbin. The Jewish communities were established to maintain a close communal relationship. A Rabbi was hired to lead the congregation. In 1903, a Synagogue was built in and Rabbi Levin was its first Rabbi.

In 1905, Russia published the so called The Protocols of the Elders of Zion. This infamous document implied that there was an international Jewish conspiracy aiming to defeat Christianity and assume world control.  This fabricated document gave rise to collective persecution of Russian Jews many of whom left Russia with some coming to Harbin. By 1908 the Jewish population of Harbin rose to about 800.
The October Revolution of 1917 led by Lenin established the Bolshevik party. Some of the bourgeoisie and white Russian soldiers escaped Russia to Harbin. Jews displaced by the revolution also migrated to Harbin in large numbers. By 1920 there were 12 thousand Jews in Harbin. In addition about 10 thousand Jews from England, France, Austria ,Poland, Lithuania, Estonia and other countries of Western Europe entered Harbin in that period
Harbin Jewish Community further developed in 1917- 1931. In 1919, the Community Council was elected to act leading body of the Harbin Jewish Community.  At the height of the Jewish expansion the committee took charge of most of the Jewish communal affairs. In 1920s, many cultural, educational, healthy and welfare organizations, such as hospitals, schools, libraries, theaters, old age homes, charities, free kitchens, burial grounds, etc were opened. They published newspapers and magazines of their own.  The Jews contributed to the development of Harbin’s economy. They not only created factories, firms, hotels, shops and banks, but also took an active part in investments in the Harbin Stock Exchange and were active participants and traders.
3. Jews in the period from 1920s to liberation

In the middle of 20th century (1924), the Russians provided statistics on the Harbin Jews. It was reported that, there were 5848 Jews in Harbin at the time, including 19 engineers and technicians, 162 doctors and nurses, 131 professions, lawyers and other professionals, 145 students, 16 railway staff, 5 teachers, 9 servants, 1106 house owners, merchants and industrial and commercial staff, 95 accountants and statisticians, 464 artisans and workshop owners, 38 workers, 1912 house-holders, 535 service staff and 1211 children. The actual population should be more than 10 thousand due to the incomplete statistics. 

From the end of 1920 their fortunes declined due to a series of external events affecting both social and economic life. The Jewish Community suffered heavy losses when the Japanese army invaded in 1931.Supported by the Japanese police and military, White Russian fascists in Harbin started persecuting the Jews with acts such as kidnapping rich merchants or their relatives, breaking the window of synagogues assaulting leaders of Jewish communities, etc. 
Anti Semitism peaked with the kidnapping and murder of Simon Caspè, the son of the owner of the Moderne Hotel, in August 1933. This aroused wide condemnation. 
In 1934, under the direction of Japan, a Russian Affairs Bureau came into existence controlled Russian Jews in Harbin and other cities of northeast China.  
Jews were forced to leave Harbin due to worsening living conditions in Russia, however towards the mid 1930s, the number of Jews declined to less than 5000 in Harbin, though Harbin remained as an important center for Jews in China up till the end of World War II.
With the creation of the Peoples Republic of China in 1949, most of Jews left China voluntarily. Those remaining in China received subsidy from Chinese Government to relieve hardship caused by loss of employment and income. By the end of 1953, the number of Jews in Harbin stood at 453.  In 1955, a standard subsidy for foreign nationals and those who were stateless was enacted in Harbin. A household with one member would receive 14 Yuan, 24 Yuan for 2 members and 32 Yuan for 3 members. Households with more than 3 members would be given additional 8 Yuan for each additional person. 
In the 1960s, the remaining synagogue was closed (at this time there was no Rabbi to officiate at services) and that meant the end of the Jewish community. 
Jews had been well treated from their first arrival to the very end.  The Chinese people were tolerant and magnanimous towards the Jews both in their daily contacts and at work, building up the relations, advancing communication between the Chinese and the Jews, and providing them with adequate living conditions.
Harbin’s Synagogue

Plans to build the first Synagogue were first introduced in 1903. 
By 1906, Harbin Jews raised sufficient funds for the construction of the Synagogue to be located at No.56 Paodui Street (today renamed as Tongjiang Street) near the harbor.  
In 1927, the articles governing the role of the synagogue were promulgated. The articles covered the following activities:

a. Cater to the needs of the Jewish faith
b. To manage this and other Synagogues

c. To pay for the services of rabbis and rabbi’s assistants

d. To pay for the ritual slaughter of animals as required by the dietary laws (Kashruth)
e. To cater to all needs of the community relating to the issuance of birth, marriage, divorce and death certificates 

f. To administer the Jewish cemetery and arrange for burial in accordance with Jewish religious practices. To this end a burial society was organized.

g. To apply to the Chinese authorities for the construction and operation of Jewish schools and other buildings for other cultural activities.

h. To establish charitable institutions to cater to the old and needy.

i. To establish and supervise the operation of ritual baths (mikvas)

j. To establish and supervise the establishment of a library to be used by the community

k. To establish and operate a “Free or Cheap Kitchen” that catered to those in need.


It should be noted that the Chinese authorities counted any Jew over the age of 20 as a full member of the community.


Past Chairmen of the community
E. Dobisof, Russian,  died in 1918.

G·B·Drizin, stateless, died in 1939.

Shlomo Rabikovich, stateless left Harbin in 1935.

Isaac Soskin, stateless left Harbin in 1930.

Dr. Abraham. Kaufman stateless left Harbin in 1945.

Aharon Moshe Kiselev, Rabbi, Russian, left Harbin in 1939.

Michael Zaigraef, Russian, resigned in 1950.

The religious committee consisted of 10 members including 3 supervisors. The last session was held in 1951. The three supervisors were as follows:

a. Solomon Kaner，born Jan. 19, 1986 in Russia. He was a clerk in a piece goods wholesale center. He arrived Harbin in 1906 and became a flour salesman in the Manchurian Region in 1908. He served as an agent for Danboff Brothers Candle Plant in 1911. By 1919 he established his own business in Central Street.. In 1946, he was appointed as chairman of the burial society attached to the Synagogue. He was vice-president of the Synagogue in 1950. He was  also a director of the Jewish Medical Council, Director of Jewish Rest homes for the Disabled and the Old, as well as a board member of the Free Kitchen. He left Harbin in 1964.

By 1959, there were some 130members of the congregation. As Jews continued leaving Harbin after 1950 the congregation declined to the point when in November of 1963 the main Synagogue was closed.

The Synagogue

1. The “Old” Synagogue
The main Synagogue built in 1906, which was called Old Synagogue by custom as it was the first one to be built in Harbin. It was located in No. 44 Paodui Street (No.82 Tongjiang Street), Daoli District. The Synagogue had two floors. As was customary the ground and first floors served men and women respectively. Two circular staircases led to the first floor. Two domes were erected on the roof. A six sided Star of David topped one of the domes.
Jews from neighboring cities came to Harbin to attend services on each major holiday. Morning and evening services were held throughout the year. It was noted in 1937 that about 300 men and 250 women attended services during the holidays.
2. The New Synagogue
A second synagogue of 1,233 m2  (The New Synagogue) ,  was built in 1921, in No.162 Jingwei Street, Daoli District, not far from the Old Synagogue. It was funded from contributions by the Jewish community. As the largest Synagogue in northeast China, it could accommodate up to 500 worshippers. It was managed by the religious council independently from the old Synagogue. In 1937 it is estimated that the congregation consisted of about 400 men and women.
The number of Jews dropped sharply by 1951. The congregation stood at about 300 of which 10-15 elderly Jews came to morning prayers, during high holidays attendance stood at about 50. 

Chairman of the first session: Kofman, who was died in 1932.

Chairman of the second session: P. Kahn, who was died in 1941.

Chairman of the third session: Jisler，who left Harbin in 1950.

Chairman of the fourth session: Borovoi，was born in Chernihov Province, Ukraine. He graduated from middle school and enrolled in Moscow to study architecture. He applied for a position in Harbin in 1902 and was engaged as the "sexton" (Gabbay) of synagogue in 1918.

The Synagogue was a two-storied building, with three entrances. There was a double colonnade full of lights and shadows. A large dome was erected over the main prayer hall which was topped by a Magen David (The Shield of David). The Synagogoe was closed in 1956 and was later occupied as a Club of the Harbin Security Bureau.
3. Modiago Synagogue
Both the new and old synagogues were at a considerable distance from Modiago, where there was a high concentration of Jews it was decided to construct a third synagogue to cater to the needs of Jews residing in the Nangang District (New Town),
Jewish finance, cultural, educational and other causes in Harbin

Jews in Harbin showed an extraordinary talent in finance. From early 1920s (or around the period of highest growth), where there were a number of banks established by foreigners. In June 1923, the Harbin Jewish Civil Bank (a private bank capitalized by Russian Jewish shareholders), opened its business in the Central Street, Daoli District. Its starting capital was 5812 Yuan. By 1924 its capital stood at 100 thousand Yuan. Without branches in China, the bank accepted foreign remittance by setting up agents in Berlin, Paris, New York and London.

As a foreign private bank with the longest history in Harbin, the Harbin Jewish Civil Bank passed through three of China's historical periods. The Republic of China, (Post World War I), then China under the control of Japan and finally the Peoples Republic. It continued to operate until the liberation of Harbin in 1946 after which it  was reorganized as a Joint-Stock Co. Ltd on Dec. 9, 1951 with 2 managers and 7 clerks. It was operated under the control of the Bank of China and adopted its banking principals. In 1952 it was renamed as the Foreign Saving Bank attached to Bank of China after signing an association contract. This ended the business of the Harbin's longest lasting Jewish bank.
Harbin Jews had made great strides in commerce and economy. They set up plants, firms and shops of large scales, which influenced a lot to the economy of Harbin. Moderne Hotel, which was built by a French Jew (Caspè) in 1913, was a three-storied European building of in the baroque style. The Lopato Tobacco Company was set up by two Caraite9 brothers in 1904 in No. 16 Central Street as a small plant to manufacture Russian cigarettes. By 1920, it was jointly managed with British-American Tobacco Company in Shanghai. The factory was a four-storied building of 18,000 m2. It commenced production in 1922. Today it is the Harbin Tobacco Factory and is still located at its former address. 
The Mars restaurant was opened in 1925 by two partners Drizin and Zukerman. It has, since, been renamed as the Huamei Western Restaurant and is still located at the old address. Bent Brothers store was created in 1922 by the Bent brothers, dealing with fur and leather business. 
The Skidelsky Forestry Company was started by B. Skidelsky in 1920s. It was the main lumber provider for Chinese Eastern Railway, possessed of 5 forests. 
Skidelsky contributed funds to build the Talmud Torah (The Jewish religious school).

Cultural development of Harbin Jews:

The Rupor paper was started in 1920 by Evgeny Kaufman. It was considered to be the "yellow press" of its day. It had no connection to the Jewish community. Circulation increased from 2000 in 1920 to 5000 by 1930

The Jewish life was stared by Dr. A Kaufman on Jan 4, 1920 and ceased publication in June 1943.

Magazines and publications at the time included Hadegel the paper of the revisionist (Betar) movement. It was published from 1931-1942
Educational cause of Harbin Jews:

Jewish High School was located in No. 46 Paodui Street, Butou District, Harbin. It was built in the European formal style of its day. Today it is the No. 2 Middle School for Korean students. It was recorded that there were 2 Jewish primary schools  of which was the Talmud Torah (a religious school) in Ma Street in 1920 with 111 pupils and 5 teachers and the other secular Jewish Primary School was established in Shangshi Street in 1925 with 40 pupils and 4 teachers.

Medical treatment of the Harbin Jews:

Between 1921 and 1933 several Jewish pharmacies were opened. In 1934, the Jewish hospital was built. It was a three-storied building that included a bungalow. The total area was 994m2. It was located in No.44 Shangshi Street, Daoli District. The hospital had the following units

1. Surgery

2. Internal Medicine

3. Radiation

4. ENT (Ear Nose and Throat)

5. Emergency

Today it is the Harbin Eye Hospital and is located at its former address.

Social Services:
In 1916, the Jewish Free Kitchen was opened in Paodui Street, Daoli District. They offered free or inexpensive meals to those in need. Expenses were covered by membership fees of the community members, income from parties and donations. The approximate income for each of the above was 10 thousand Yuan.

The Jewish home for the elderly was built in Jan. 1921 on Paodui Street, Daoli District, it was directed by Mr. Joseph Rabinovich. In 1934 they accepted 24 flats. The annual income totaled 6000 Yuan. In 1924, additional 3 rest homes were opened. The first  was in No. 66 Ma Street with 3 apartments built of brick and 1 wooden apartment with an area of 507m2 set in a plot of 910 m2. The second unit was located in No.12 Anjing Street, Daoli District with 2 apartments built of brick , a wooden flat and a studio type apartment built of wood covering an area of 128 m2 set in a plot of 234m2; and a third unit located in No.69 An’ning Street, Daoli District consisting of one brick building and two wooden apartments, covering an area of 617 m2 set in a plot of  940m2. In addition to the rest homes the Ladies Charity helped those in need by providing monetary support. A mikva (Ritual bathing bath), a library and other facilities were made available for communal use.
In 1903 the Harbin Jewish Cemetery was built in Taian Street ( today the site of the Cultural Park). At first it served Russian Jews, but as the Jewish population of Harbin expanded the cemetery accepted any Jew regardless of origin. In 1958, the cemetery was relocated to Huang Shan in the eastern suburb of Harbin. 677 graves were moved to the new site that covered an area of 836m2. Many famous Jewish entrepreneurs, musicians, writers, bankers are interred there. Today, many Jewish descendants come to Harbin from all over the world to pay respects to their kin buried there.
As an important historical resource, Jewish history in Harbin should be investigated in depth so as to gain an understanding of past events and apply that knowledge to attract tourism, investment, business and cultural exchanges with the new generation.
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